

DEMOGRAPHIC RESEARCH

VOLUME 50, ARTICLE 27, PAGES 763–796 PUBLISHED 10 APRIL 2024

https://www.demographic-research.org/Volumes/Vol50/27/ DOI: 10.4054/DemRes.2024.50.27

Research Article

The influence of parental cancer on the mental health of children and young adults: Evidence from Norwegian register data on healthcare consultations

Øystein Kravdal

Jonathan Wörn

Rannveig K. Hart

Bjørn-Atle Reme

© 2024 Kravdal, Wörn, Hart & Reme.

This open-access work is published under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 Germany (CC BY 3.0 DE), which permits use, reproduction, and distribution in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are given credit. See https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/de/legalcode.

Contents

1	Introduction	764
2	Background	765
2.1	Research motivation	765
2.2	Brief review of observed patterns and possible mechanisms	766
2.3	The modifying effect of age	767
2.4	Evidence from register-based studies	767
3	Data	768
4	Methods	769
4.1	General issues	769
4.2	Analysis I: Effects of parental cancer diagnosis	770
4.3	Analysis II: Effects of parental cancer death	772
4.4	Analysis III: Effects of parental cancer diagnosis, conditioned on	772
	whether the parent subsequently died from this cancer	
4.5	An extension of Analysis III: interactions with relative survival	773
5	Results	773
5.1	Summary statistics	773
5.2	Effects of parental cancer diagnosis (Analysis 1)	774
5.3	Effects of parental cancer death (Analysis II)	776
5.4	Effects of parental cancer diagnosis, conditioned on whether the parent died later (Analysis III)	777
5.5	Interactions with relative survival (an extension of Analysis III)	778
5.6	Robustness tests	780
6	Discussion and conclusions	781
6.1	Synthesizing and interpreting the main results	781
6.2	Strengths and limitations	783
6.3	Concluding remarks	784
7	Acknowledgements	785
	References	786
	Appendix	791

Demographic Research: Volume 50, Article 27 Research Article

The influence of parental cancer on the mental health of children and young adults: Evidence from Norwegian register data on healthcare consultations

Øystein Kravdal¹ Jonathan Wörn² Rannveig K. Hart³ Bjørn-Atle Reme³

Abstract

OBJECTIVE

The aim was to examine how parental cancer affects the mental health of offspring aged 6-30, and age variations in this effect.

METHODS

Individual fixed-effects models were estimated from register data covering the entire Norwegian population in 2010–2018. The outcome variable was whether the individual (offspring) had at least one consultation within a year with a general practitioner (GP) or specialist where a mental health diagnosis or symptom was reported.

RESULTS

The consultation probability was higher after a parental cancer diagnosis than before (e.g., 15% higher in the first year after the diagnosis). This was to a large extent driven by subsequent parental deaths, but there was also a small post-diagnosis increase among offspring whose parent survived the observation period. The consultation probability increased by 83% the year a parent died among offspring who were 19–30 at that time, after a smaller increase over a few of the preceding years. A decline occurred later. The death seemed to have a weaker, but more lasting, effect on those who were 8–18 years old at the time of the death, and these did not experience a clear pre-death increase.

¹ Centre for Fertility and Health, Norwegian Institute of Public Health; Department of Economics, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway. Email: oystein.kravdal@fhi.no.

² Centre for Fertility and Health, Norwegian Institute of Public Health, Oslo, Norway.

³ Centre for Fertility and Health, Norwegian Institute of Public Health; Department of Health Economics and Health Management, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway.

CONCLUSION

Parental cancer death seems to weaken offspring's mental health – and no less among young adults than among children. By contrast, having a parent with cancer who remains alive at least throughout the observation period has relatively little impact.

CONTRIBUTION

We show associations between parental cancer and offspring's mental health, paying special attention to whether the parent dies. This may inform discussions about supporting offspring.

1. Introduction

In demography and other social sciences there has been much interest in how parental resources, family stability, and other aspects of the early-life environment affect children's health and development (Bradley and Corwyn 2002; Heckman 2012; Kravdal and Wörn 2023), their demographic behaviour (Wiik 2009), and their own socioeconomic resources as adults (Hällsten and Thaning 2022). However, when analysing these effects of family background, social scientists have paid little attention to serious parental illness, and when they have the focus has often been on socioeconomic consequences (Aaskoven, Kjær, and Gyrd-Hansen 2022) rather than health.

Our goal is to add to the knowledge of how parental illness and death influence the mental health of children and young adults over roughly a decade (which in turn may have an impact on later life outcomes). We focus on cancer, which is the most common cause of death in the age group where people typically have relatively young children (Norwegian Institute of Public Health 2018). According to Norwegian data, 6% of individuals born in the 1990s had experienced a parental cancer diagnosis by the age of 18 (own calculations). The medically oriented literature includes many investigations aimed at quantifying the health effects of parental cancer, but these have often been based on small-scale surveys, and many potentially important confounders have not been controlled for (see review below). The conclusions have also been rather diverse.

Our study is based on register data that cover the entire Norwegian population and include information about healthcare use. It focuses on offspring who experienced a parental cancer diagnosis or death when aged 8–30, and their mental health from age 6 to 30 as indicated by whether they have had a consultation with a general practitioner (GP) or specialist where a mental health problem was reported. The analysis covers the years 2010–2018.

We estimate individual fixed-effects models to control for time-constant factors (including unobserved factors) that may affect both the probability of parental cancer and

the offspring's health, and take a dynamic perspective in the sense that we consider the importance of time since diagnosis or death. This methodology has, to our knowledge, been used only once before in research on how parental cancer affects children's health (Kristiansen 2021). However, in that study only the effects of a cancer diagnosis were estimated, without taking into account whether the diagnosis was followed by death; effects of cancer deaths were not estimated. Often the statistically less advanced investigations also fail to distinguish between parents who are still alive after a cancer diagnosis and those who have died (Howell et al. 2016).

In our study we attempt to separate the effects of a death or a forthcoming death from the other effects of cancer. We do this by estimating models for effects of parental cancer death as well as models for effects of parental cancer diagnosis, and by conditioning the latter on whether and when the parent dies. The effects of the cancer diagnosis among those whose parent does not die within the next few years, or perhaps survives through the whole remaining observation period, may be considered as reflecting the disease consequences that are not due to the death. For the subgroup with a surviving parent we also check how the effects of the diagnosis vary with the prognosis, as indicated by published site- and stage-specific 5-year relative survival rates. Healthcare personnel often provide the patient and the family with information about the prognosis, and it is possible that this information influences mental health even in a phase of the disease when the current health situation is not very bad.

In addition to analysing the overall effects of parental cancer and the variation according to survival prospects, we examine how the effects vary according to the offspring's age by estimating most models separately for two broad age groups. As further discussed below, the effects of parental cancer might be expected to be particularly detrimental to young offspring who are still very dependent on parental support – although there are also some relevant counterarguments.

2. Background

2.1 Research motivation

Knowledge about the effects on mental health of having a parent with cancer – and possibly losing that parent – may be important in discussions about support. Typically, family members and friends will try to help, but in many countries there are also more formal support systems. In Norway, institutions treating cancer patients are obliged by law to evaluate the situation for children younger than 18, and to offer various types of assistance if considered necessary. This is also the case (since 2018) after a death (Ministry of Health and Care Services 2023). However, it has been reported that the

support is often of quite low quality (Norwegian Cancer Association 2019), and there are no similar formal obligations with respect to young adult offspring. The further development of such support programmes should ideally be based on empirical evidence about the various types of challenges that the offspring of cancer patients tend to meet. Such evidence may also be of value to sick parents and their co-parents, who are likely to be very concerned about their children.

2.2 Brief review of observed patterns and possible mechanisms

Earlier empirical research on the health effects of parental cancer includes both qualitative and quantitative studies – many based on small and not always nationally representative surveys. Some of these studies suggest a relatively high probability of, for example, distress, anxiety, depression, or various psychosomatic symptoms among children of parents with cancer (see reviews by Morris, Martini, and Preen 2016; Visser at al. 2004). Studies focused largely on cancer that was not at an advanced stage point in the same direction (Osborn 2007). These mental responses may be partly due to a fear of loss. Furthermore, offspring may receive less support and attention from the parent who is ill – and who may be struggling with pain and fatigue and spend considerable time in treatment – or from the co-parent, who may be very worried and carry a heavy care burden. The offspring may also be influenced by various other changes caused by the illness, possibly including a reduced family income.

However, there are also studies that find no negative effects on children's health, or even indications of health advantages (see also Jeppesen et al. 2013; Visser et al. 2007). One possible explanation is that parents with a severe disease are particularly eager to spend time with their children, as far as they are able (Semple and McCance 2010). Friends and other family members may also be very supportive, and there may be aspects of the situation that constitute some sort of 'growth experience' (Bultmann et al. 2014).

Obviously, the situation changes if the parent dies. On the one hand, care tasks that may have been quite burdening disappear. On the other, the offspring and other family members may enter a period of intense grief, and the definitive loss of a parent may cause life changes with long-term health implications through complex causal chains involving, for example, education. Many investigations have indeed shown that offspring's health and wellbeing are adversely affected by parental deaths from cancer (Jessopp, Fischer and Good 2022) or a broader group of causes (Berg, Rostila and Hjern 2016; Glaser and Pruckner 2023), although there are also studies where such effects have not appeared (Pfeffer et al. 2000; Stikkelbroek et al. 2012).

The situation shortly before death may also be particularly difficult for the offspring, as the problems earlier in the illness period become aggravated (Jessopp, Fischer, and

Good 2022). In particular, less pronounced worries about the outcome in the beginning may be replaced by 'anticipation grief', and the parent with cancer is likely to need even more support than before. In cases where the family is informed about poor survival possibilities at the time of diagnosis or soon afterwards (based on cancer site and stage), the offspring may enter a period of intense anxiety very early, long before the death.

Children and young adults may gradually adapt to the loss of a parent, partly through the development of alternative sources of support, and experience an improvement in health compared to the period around the time of death. However, it is also possible that the loss starts a chain of events with long-term adverse consequences (Kravdal and Grundy 2016).

2.3 The modifying effect of age

The relevance or importance of the various types of response to a parental cancer diagnosis or death likely varies with the offspring's age. However, the direction of this variation is not obvious. On the one hand (and in line with the so-called attachment theory; Bowlby 1977), the loss of or reduced contact with a parent because of cancer may be particularly detrimental to young children because of their extreme dependence on parental support (Leopold and Lechner 2015). On the other, adult offspring will feel more responsible for helping the sick parent – and the co-parent. Moreover, even though they may earn money and have established their own family, they may still be emotionally close to their parents and (in the absence of parental illness) be net receivers of various types of support (Swartz et al. 2011). Furthermore, they may be better able to understand the severity of the situation than, in particular, the youngest children. Finally, the experience of stressful events in young adulthood may affect transitions to tertiary education and establishing careers, with potential long-term consequences (Porter and Claridge 2021). Reviews of studies on the effects of parental cancer on offspring's health and well-being have concluded that while the exact nature of the response may differ by age, the existing evidence does not suggest a difference in the overall impact (Hoffmann, Kaiser, and Kersting 2018; Krattenmacher et al. 2012; Morris, Martini, and Preen 2016; Osborn, 2007).

2.4 Evidence from register-based studies

In recent years some parental cancer studies have been based on nationwide register data (Inhestern et al. 2021). The use of such data hugely increases the number of observations and allows other and quite objective health measures to be considered. Using Danish

register data, Kristiansen (2021) and Momen et al. (2018) find that having parents with cancer (who perhaps die from it) is linked to a higher probability of certain mental disorders. Another Danish study shows that parental death from cancer affects the use of psychotropic medication, at least during the first six months after the death, while living with a parent who has cancer has less impact (Høegh et al. 2021). Benros et al. (2013) observe adverse mental health effects on Danish offspring of cancer patients even when censored at the time of death (if any). Poorer mental health among children experiencing parental cancer has also been shown in Sweden, especially after parental death (Chen et al. 2018a). Similarly, Finnish register-based studies have shown an excess risk of psychiatric disorders (Niemelä et al. 2012, 2016). One of these Nordic investigations indicates that the youngest offspring experience the most adverse consequences (Niemelä et al. 2012), one points weakly in the opposite direction (Chen et al. 2015a), and one shows no age difference (Chen et al. 2015b).

As one would expect, some authors have reported that parental cancer is particularly harmful to offspring when survival prospects are poor, although this may reflect that the parent is also likely to have actually died (Chen et al. 2018a, 2018b). However, there are also investigations showing no such relationship with survival prospects (Chen et al. 2015b).

Among these register-based studies of effects of parental cancer, the methodology of Kristiansen (2021) – based on Danish data – stands out. She takes a step away from the 'standard' regression approach by estimating individual fixed-effects models. Such models take into account all joint determinants of parental cancer and offspring health that are time-constant by utilizing the within-offspring variation in health outcomes across time. Essentially, health outcomes after the cancer diagnosis are compared to those before this event for the same individual. Unlike earlier studies of the health effects of parental cancer, Kristiansen analyses how these effects vary by time from diagnosis. However, as mentioned above, she does not take into account whether the diagnosis was followed by death, and she estimates the effects of all deaths pooled together without considering the cause of death or previous diagnoses.

3. Data

The key data sources were the Norwegian Population Register, the Cause-of-Death Register, the Cancer Register, the Control and Distribution of Health Reimbursement database (KUHR), and the Norwegian Patient Register (NPR). The data extraction for the analysis covered the period up to 1st January 2019.

Everyone who has ever lived in Norway after 1964 is included in the Population Register and is assigned a personal identification number (PIN) that allows linkage to

other registers. The Population Register includes information about the person's date of birth and death (if any). PINs of parents are included for almost everyone born in Norway after 1953. The word 'parent' refers to the social parent in the quite rare cases when an adoption has taken place. Furthermore, there is annual information on whether the person was living in Norway on the 1st January. The Cause-of-Death Register includes information about the causes of all deaths since 1964.

The Cancer Register includes information on the date of diagnosis, cancer site, and stage at the time of diagnosis for all cancers diagnosed after 1964, while the KUHR includes information about consultations with GPs and other primary healthcare personnel from 2006 onwards. Only a few GPs in Norway do not report their consultations in the KUHR (because they do not have a contract with the health authorities). The NPR includes information about use of specialized healthcare and covers the period from 2008 or 2009. Notwithstanding, due to under-registration in the beginning, our analysis starts in 2010.

Our outcome variable is whether the offspring had – within a year – at least one face-to-face GP consultation where a symptom or diagnosis of a mental health problem was reported (ICPC-2 codes P01-P99), or at least one specialist consultation where a mental disorder (ICD-10 codes F01-F99) was reported as a main or secondary diagnosis. We often refer to this below as 'had a consultation for a mental disorder'.

4. Methods

4.1 General issues

The analysis was restricted to individuals for whom both the mother's and father's PIN were included in the Population Register, and who were born in 1980–2010 (i.e., they were 30 years old or younger in 2010, which is the first year covered by the analysis, and 8 years or older in 2018, which is the last year). For each individual (offspring), a first (FYO) and last (LYO) year of observation were defined. The FYO is 2010, or if the individual then lived abroad or was not yet 6 years old, the first year after 2010 when the individual lived in Norway on 1st January and had already turned 6 or did so within the year. Consequently, the age of the individual (defined as their age at the end of the year) was at least 6 in the FYO. The LYO is 2018, the year when the individual turned 30, or the years before the individual lived in Norway at both the beginning and end of the year were included. The outcome variable (whether there has been a healthcare consultation within a year) is then a particularly relevant indicator of the individual's health in that year.

We conducted three types of analyses (see overview in Table 1). The aim of Analysis I was to assess the impact of a parental cancer diagnosis, and the key independent variable was the time since diagnosis. In Analysis II the focus was instead on changes in consultations around the parental cancer death, so time since death was the key variable. Analysis III (like Analysis I) focused on changes after the cancer diagnosis – and on the time-since-diagnosis variable – but the analysis was conditioned on cancer death or survival. Analysis I provides information about the offspring's response to having a parent who is more or less seriously affected by cancer, or who may already have died from cancer. As mentioned above, most earlier studies take this relatively broad perspective. By contrast, Analysis III sheds light specifically on the consequences of a parental cancer that has not (within the observation period) led to death. Note that whether the parents live together is not taken into account in any of the analyses.

	5	
Type of analysis	Groups included ^a	Figure and tables ^b
l Effects of diagnosis	Offspring experiencing parental cancer diagnosis (A) + Age control group (B)	Effects shown in Figure 1 and (with all years before the diagnosis pooled together) in the first column of Table 3
II Effects of death	Offspring experiencing parental cancer death (A*) + Age control group (B)	Effects shown in Figure 1
III Effects of diagnosis, conditioned on survival/death	Offspring experiencing parental cancer diagnosis (A) + Age control group (B), but A conditioned on whether survival or time of death	Effects shown in the second and third columns of Table 3 (all years before the diagnosis pooled together) and in Table 4 (all years before the diagnosis pooled together and broader categories for years after the diagnosis)
		Table 5: Restricted to individuals whose parent did not die from cancer and interaction with relative survival added (all years before the diagnosis pooled together and broader categories for years after the diagnosis)

Table 1:	Overview	of the	analyses
			•/

Notes: a See text for definitions of Groups A, A*, and B.

^b Appendix tables show estimates from many different types of models, which are specified in the table headings or the footnotes to the tables.

4.2 Analysis I: Effects of parental cancer diagnosis

Two groups of offspring were included in the analysis of the effects of time since parental cancer diagnosis, one that experienced a parental cancer diagnosis (group A) and - for reasons explained below - one that did not (group B). More specifically, group A consists of those who have

1) one parent who received a first cancer diagnosis between FYO+2 and LYO, and who may or may not have died from that cancer before or in the LYO, but who

did not have another cancer diagnosis in this period (generally, about 10% of Norwegians diagnosed with a first cancer have a second cancer later in life), and who did not die from another cause, while

2) the other parent had neither been diagnosed with cancer nor died up to the LYO.

Note that cancer may also have been an important underlying cause for some of those who are registered as having died from something else, as there is sometimes doubt about which cause would be most reasonable to register. However, this is unproblematic from our perspective since the group is very small (being a subgroup of the 2% that are excluded because cancer is not the registered cause of death). Note also that it is extremely uncommon for children and young adults to have two parents with a cancer diagnosis.

All the offspring in group A contribute observations in the year of the cancer diagnosis, possibly years after the diagnosis (if the diagnosis was in LYO–1 or earlier), the year before the cancer diagnosis (chosen as a reference category for the time-sincediagnosis variable; see below), and at least one year before that. The latter means that they contribute to the estimation of the pre-diagnosis trend. Note that since the FYO is not earlier than the year when the offspring turned 6 years old, the lowest possible age at diagnosis is 8 years.

Group B (also described below as the 'age control group') consists of offspring whose mother and father were neither diagnosed with cancer nor died from any cause up to the LYO.

The following linear probability model was estimated from information for offspring in groups A and B:

$$Y_{it} = \sum_{k=-8,6} \beta_k D^{(k)}_{it} + \gamma A_{it} + v_i + \varepsilon_{it}$$

 Y_{it} is 0 or 1, depending on whether offspring *i* had a healthcare consultation for a mental disorder in year *t* (*t* between FYO and LYO), and $D^{(k)}_{it}$ are dummy variables corresponding to year *k* since diagnosis (negative before the diagnosis). We set k = -1 as the reference category. As pointed out and motivated below, other categorizations of *D* were used in parts of the analysis. In addition, a vector A_{it} of age dummy variables for 1-year categories of offspring's age was included to take into account that the offspring becomes older as time since diagnosis increases. Offspring fixed effects are represented by v_i . The estimation was done with the *xtreg* command in Stata, using the *fe* option and robust standard errors clustered at the individual level.

Note that when the model is linear it is easier to assess the importance of mediators (not relevant here) and interactions (Ai and Norton 2003; Karlson, Holm, and Breen 2012) than if the analysis is based on a logistic or other non-linear model.

Group B was included because there would have been a linear dependence problem if the estimation had been based exclusively on offspring in group A. This linear dependence arises because current age minus time since diagnosis is the age at diagnosis, which is constant over all observations for an individual and can be seen as part of the fixed effect. If models had only been estimated from group A, it would not be possible – because of the linear dependence – to separate effects of age and time since diagnosis without making assumptions about either age or time since diagnosis having no effect within a certain interval of these variables (as Kravdal, Wörn, and Reme (2023) illustrate for a similar situation). Offspring in group B only contributed to the estimation of the age effect (for these individuals, all the D dummy variables were set to zero; i.e., they were in the reference category of D). The underlying assumption behind this approach is that the age effect in group B is the same as among those who have experienced a cancer diagnosis (group A). This assumption is further discussed below.

We stratified by the offspring's age when the parent was diagnosed with cancer. In this stratified analysis, a subgroup of A that was defined according to the offspring's age at the time of diagnosis (8–18 years old or 19–30 years old) was included along with group B. For simplicity, the subgroups are referred to below as 'the youngest group' and 'the oldest group'.

4.3 Analysis II: Effects of parental cancer death

When focusing on time since parental death from cancer, a group A* was included instead of A. We used the same criterion 2 for inclusion in group A* as for A, but criterion 1 was changed to the following: the offspring must have one parent who died from cancer between FYO+2 and LYO, and there must have been one cancer diagnosis for that parent, no earlier than the year after the offspring's birth. This analysis of cancer death was also age-stratified, but now according to the offspring's age when the parent died from cancer.

4.4 Analysis III: Effects of parental cancer diagnosis, conditioned on whether the parent subsequently died from this cancer

Analysis III was as Analysis I, except that models were estimated separately for offspring whose parents (1) did not die from the cancer before or in the LYO (but may have died later), (2) died from the cancer within this period, and (3) died from the cancer specifically 0–1, 2–3, or 4–6 years after the diagnosis (but no later than the LYO). In addition, offspring in group B were included, as in all the other analysis. The estimates from (3) tell us whether offspring are affected by having a parent who has a cancer

diagnosis and who is going to die but not very soon (one cannot draw conclusions about this from Analysis I or II or the other parts of Analysis III). Sub-analyses (1) and (2) were stratified by the offspring's age when the parental cancer was diagnosed.

4.5 An extension of Analysis III: interactions with relative survival

Site- and stage-specific 5-year relative survival calculated by the Cancer Registry of Norway (2022) was dichotomized into lower than 75% (0) or higher than 75% (1). About three-quarters of the cancer cases were in the latter category. Interactions between this dummy variable and the various categories of time since diagnosis were added to a model that was estimated for offspring whose parent did not die from cancer later in the observation period (i.e., setup (1) above). Note that interactions between relative survival and current age were not included, as relative survival is not a relevant variable for those not having experienced parental cancer.

5. Results

5.1 Summary statistics

The number of 1-year observations included in Analyses I and II, and the number of individuals in groups A or A* contributing to these observations, are shown in Table 2, along with the proportions having a healthcare consultation for a mental disorder. For example, about 67,000 offspring contributed to Analysis I because they experienced a parental cancer diagnosis between the ages of 8 and 30, while about 12,000 contributed to Analysis II because they experienced a parental cancer death within this age interval.

Table 2:Number of observations and proportion with a healthcare
consultation within a year in the groups included in the analyses

	Offspring experiencing	Age control group (group B) a		
	Number of 1-year observations (millions)	Number of offspring contributing to the analysis (millions)	Average value of outcome variable: proportion with a healthcare consultation for a mental disorder within a year	Number of 1-year observations (millions)
Analysis I				
Offspring aged 8–30 years at diagnosis	0.552	0.067	0.137	11.532
Offspring aged 8–18	0.179	0.021	0.103	11.532
years at diagnosis				
Offspring aged 19–30 years at diagnosis	0.373	0.045	0.154	11.532
Analysis II				
Offspring aged 8–30	0.101	0.012	0.184	11.532
years at death				
Offspring aged 8–18 vears at death	0.027	0.003	0.129	11.532
Offspring aged 19–30 years at death	0.074	0.009	0.204	11.532

Note: a In this group, the proportion with a consultation is 0.118.

5.2 Effects of parental cancer diagnosis (Analysis 1)

According to the regression estimates, before a diagnosis the probability of a consultation for a mental disorder is constant: there is no clear pattern in the estimates in that period (Figure 1 and Table A-1). If the model is re-specified with a linear trend before the cancer diagnosis instead of the 7 1-year categories, the trend coefficient is essentially zero for both the youngest and the oldest age groups (0.0009 per year with standard error 0.0006 in the former group, and 0.0000 per year with standard error 0.0004 in the latter; not shown). The consultation probability increases after diagnosis in both age groups: In the youngest group there is an increase over the first years, followed by a decline to almost the same level as before the diagnosis, while in the oldest group the level is highest in the year of the diagnosis and the year afterwards.

Figure 1: Effects (with 95% CIs) of parental cancer diagnosis (panel A) and parental cancer death (panel B) on offspring's probability of having a healthcare consultation for a mental disorder at ages 6–30, by their age at the time of diagnosis or death ^a



Note: ^a The models also include the offspring's age in 1-year categories. The estimates shown in the graph are also shown in Tables A-1 and A-2.

The clearly most plausible interpretation of the lack of a pre-diagnosis trend is that there is no 'anticipation' effect of the cancer before it is diagnosed, and that the age effect in the age control group (B) is the same as the age effect before diagnosis among those experiencing parental cancer (group A). If the age effects are also the same following diagnosis, the basic assumption underlying the analysis is satisfied. In other words, the development in the age control group provides a good picture of what would have happened among the offspring experiencing a parental cancer diagnosis in the absence of this event. (See further discussion of this in the subsection on robustness checks.)

In the youngest age group the coefficient for the first year after the diagnosis is 0.013, meaning that the probability of a consultation is 1.3 percentage point higher than in the year before the diagnosis, net of changes due to ageing. This corresponds to a 16% increase compared to the average consultation probability over all the years before the cancer (0.079; not shown). The confidence interval is 11%–22%. In the oldest age group the corresponding absolute increase is 0.021 and the relative increase is 15% (0.021/0.136), with confidence interval 12%–18%.

5.3 Effects of parental cancer death (Analysis II)

A parental death has a much greater effect (Figure 1, Table A-2). In both age groups there is an increase in the probability of a consultation for a mental disorder in the year of the death. In the youngest age group the increase is 5.5 percentage points, which is a 53% increase (confidence interval 39%–66%) relative to the consultation probability the year before the death (not shown in tables). There are even more consultations the year after the death, which slowly decrease afterwards to essentially the same level as in the year before the death (although the point estimates remain higher than in the period before the death). There are only weak indications of a pre-death increase.

In the oldest age group the consultation probability increases by about 4 percentage points over the three years before the death. The highest probability is in the year of the death: 0.172 above the year before the death, which is an 83% increase (confidence interval 79%–88%). Adding the pre-death increase of 0.04, which is 19% compared to the level the year before the death, this means that the consultation probability has roughly doubled over a few years. There is a sharp decline starting from the year after the death – down to the level of 4–8 years before the death – followed by an increase.

5.4 Effects of parental cancer diagnosis, conditioned on whether the parent died later (Analysis III)

It is reasonable to assume that the higher consultation probability after a parental cancer diagnosis (reported in section 5.2) is partly driven by parental death. To explore this issue we split the sample (group A) by whether the parental cancer led to death (up to LYO) or not. We also re-specified the model slightly: all years before the diagnosis were pooled together (inspired by the lack of a significant pre-diagnosis trend reported above), and categories broader than one year were used for some of the years after the diagnosis (for simplicity and because of the smaller number of observations in the split sample). The estimates from a full sample, i.e., regardless of parental death, are shown in column a of Table 3. They are of course very similar to those shown in Figure 1 and Table A-1. The estimates for offspring whose parent did not die within the observation period are shown in column b, while those for offspring whose parent died are shown in column c.

Table 3:Effects (with standard errors) of a parental cancer diagnosis on
offspring's probability of having a healthcare consultation for a
mental disorder at ages 6–30, by their age at the time of diagnosis ^a

Time since cancer diagnosis	a) All		b) Parent	with cancer not dying	 c) Parent with cancer dying 	
(years)			from can	cer later	from canc	er later
Offspring aged 8–30 years at diagn	osis					
≤–1 (ref)	0		0		0	
0	0.016	(0.001)	0.007	(0.001)	0.082	(0.004)
1	0.018	(0.002)	0.003	(0.002)	0.106	(0.005)
2	0.014	(0.002)	0.002	(0.002)	0.080	(0.005)
3	0.011	(0.002)	0.001	(0.002)	0.063	(0.006)
4	0.009	(0.003)	0.002	(0.003)	0.053	(0.007)
5	0.008	(0.003)	0.004	(0.003)	0.037	(0.008)
6	0.003	(0.005)	-0.002	(0.005)	0.041	(0.011)
Number of observations (millions)b	0.552		0.477		0.075	
Offspring aged 8–18 years at diagn	osis					
≤–1 (ref)	0		0		0	
0	0.006	(0.002)	0.005	(0.002)	0.018	(0.006)
1	0.013	(0.002)	0.006	(0.002)	0.064	(0.008)
2	0.013	(0.003)	0.004	(0.003)	0.068	(0.009)
3	0.016	(0.003)	0.007	(0.003)	0.069	(0.009)
4	0.012	(0.004)	0.005	(0.004)	0.055	(0.010)
5	0.006	(0.004)	0.004	(0.005)	0.026	(0.012)
6	0.006	(0.006)	0.001	(0.007)	0.035	(0.016)
Number of observations (millions) ^b	0.179		0.157		0.021	
Offspring aged 19-30 years at diag	nosis					
≤–1 (ref)	0		0		0	
0	0.021	(0.002)	0.008	(0.002)	0.105	(0.005)
1	0.020	(0.002)	0.001	(0.002)	0.123	(0.006)
2	0.015	(0.002)	0.001	(0.002)	0.084	(0.006)
3	0.006	(0.003)	-0.002	(0.003)	0.055	(0.007)
4	0.006	(0.003)	-0.001	(0.004)	0.046	(0.009)
5	0.009	(0.005)	0.005	(0.005)	0.038	(0.011)
6	-0.001	(0.007)	-0.006	(0.008)	0.035	(0.016)
Number of observations (millions)b	0.373		0.319		0.053	

Notes: ^a The model also includes the offspring's age in 1-year categories.

^b Excluding the age control group (group B).

Small increases in the consultation probability are seen after the diagnosis even if the parent did not die (column b): In the youngest age group the consultation probability is raised by 0.005-0.007 for some years after the diagnosis, while in the oldest age group there is an increase of about the same absolute size in the year of the diagnosis (but not later). To turn this into a relative measure, an increase of 0.006 is only 5% of the level in the years before the diagnosis. These effects are substantially smaller than those found when the bereaved offspring are included (column a). In other words, our results suggest that bereavement is an important driver – but not the only driver – of the effect of a parental cancer diagnosis on consultations.

As one would expect, there are much sharper increases in the consultation probability from the year of the diagnosis if the parent died (column c). However, according to further analysis stratified by the number of years between diagnosis and death (and pooling all ages at diagnosis to improve precision), there is no increase in consultations soon after the diagnosis unless the death occurs within 3 years. If death occurs 4–6 years after the diagnosis, the consultation probability remains constant at the pre-diagnosis level over the first three years (Table 4).

Table 4:Effects (with standard errors) of parental cancer diagnosis on
offspring's probability of having a healthcare consultation for a
mental disorder at ages 6–30 if the parent also died from the cancer,
by time between diagnosis and death ^a

Time since cancer diagnosis (years)	Cancer death 0–1 year after diagnosis		Cancer death 2–3 years after diagnosis		Cancer death 4–6 years after diagnosis	
Offspring aged 8–30 years at diagnosis						
≤–1 (ref)	0		0		0	
0	0.110	(0.005)	0.025	(0.007)	-0.005	(0.013)
1	0.143	(0.006)	0.038	(0.008)	0.003	(0.015)
2–3	0.051	(0.006)	0.126	(0.009)	0.002	(0.013)
4–6	0.027	(0.007)	0.040	(0.010)	0.090	(0.017)
Number of observations (millions) ^b	0.050	. ,	0.018	. ,	0.005	. ,

Notes: ^a The model also includes the offspring's age in 1-year categories. ^b Excluding the age control group (group B).

5.5 Interactions with relative survival (an extension of Analysis III)

Our next step was to examine how the severity of the cancer, as indicated by relative survival, impacted the offspring's response. In this analysis we included only offspring whose parent survived up to the LYO (i.e., the group for whom estimates were shown in column b of Table 3).

Note first that when interactions with relative survival are added, the main effects reflect the response to those cancers expected to be most harmful (relative survival <

75%). We see in Table 5 that with such cancers there is a much clearer post-diagnosis increase in the consultation probability in the oldest age group than was found when all cancers were pooled regardless of relative survival (column b of Table 3). Furthermore, the interaction effects are negative (Table 5), and the sum of the main and interaction effects (which are the effects for the cancers with the best prognosis) are almost zero. In other words, there is an increase in consultations after a parental cancer diagnosis if the survival prospects are relatively poor, but no increase if they are better. Because of the larger size of the latter group, the 'overall' effects (shown in column b of Table 3) are weak.

For the youngest age group, the estimates suggest that there are neither main effects nor interaction effects (Table 5). However, the sum of the main and interaction effects, which are the effects of the cancer cases with a relatively good prognosis, are more clearly positive (according to models estimated specifically for this group of cancers; not shown). Again, this group is the largest, which fits with the (weak) effects appearing when all cases of parental cancer are pooled together regardless of survival prospects (column b of Table 3). In other words, there is no clear evidence of effects of cancer with poor prognosis on the consultation probability, but there are weak adverse effects of the larger group of presumably less harmful cancers. This is opposite to the pattern observed in the older age group.

Table 5:Effects (with standard errors) of parental cancer diagnosis on
offspring's probability of having a healthcare consultation for a
mental disorder at ages 6–30 if the parent did not die from the
cancer, by their age at the time of diagnosis ^a

Time since cancer diagnosis (years)	Offspring aged 8–30 years at diagnosis		Offspring aged 8–18 years at diagnosis		Offspring aged 19–30 years at diagnosis	
Main effects						
≤–1 (ref)	0		0		0	
0	0.021	(0.004)	0.008	(0.006)	0.026	(0.005)
1	0.009	(0.005)	0.003	(0.007)	0.012	(0.006)
2–3	0.012	(0.005)	-0.001	(0.008)	0.019	(0.006)
4–6	0.015	(0.008)	0.015	(0.012)	0.013	(0.010)
Interactions with whether relative survival is higher than 75%						
≤-1 (ref)	0		0		0	
0	-0.016	(0.004)	-0.004	(0.006)	-0.021	(0.005)
1	-0.007	(0.005)	0.004	(0.007)	-0.013	(0.006)
2–3	-0.011	(0.005)	0.007	(0.008)	-0.022	(0.007)
4–6	-0.015	(0.008)	-0.013	(0.012)	-0.014	(0.011)
Number of observations (millions) b	0.477		0.157		0.319	

Notes: a The model also includes the offspring's age in 1-year categories.

^b Excluding the age control group (group B).

5.6 Robustness tests

Several robustness checks were made. First, instead of estimating the age effects from the age control group (B), and assuming the same age effects among those experiencing a parental cancer diagnosis (group A), we omitted the age control group and pooled all years before the diagnosis. This means that we assume no effect of the time up to the diagnosis, so that all variation in the consultation probability before the diagnosis is a result of the offspring getting older. In other words, we estimated the age effects from the pre-diagnosis observations. This gave very similar estimates (Table A-3).

In our second robustness check, which may also be considered as a small extension of the analysis, we added one group: offspring of parents diagnosed with cancer between the year when they were 8 years old and FYO+1. This approach increased the number of observations for time ≥ -1 (thus improving precision), and also allowed us to analyse the health response at time > 6 (up to 22 if the diagnosis took place at ages 8–18, but only up to 11 if it took place at ages 19–30). These individuals were not included in the main analysis because they do not contribute to the estimation of the effects of time < -1, so we cannot be sure that the age assumption holds for them.

Because of the extended observation period, the linear term $\zeta_1 T_6(t-6)$ was added to the model. T_6 is 1 if t > 6 and 0 otherwise, and ζ_1 thus represents the linear annual change more than 6 years after the diagnosis compared to the level at 6 years. The results from these models (Table A-4) were very similar to those in the main analysis, but there was a decline after 6 years in the youngest age group.

A corresponding analysis of the effects of time since death (i.e., including deaths before FYO+2) showed a pattern that was somewhat different from that in the main analysis: There was less variation in the consultation probability some years after a parental cancer death in the oldest age group (Table A-5). Rather than going down to the level observed 4–8 years before the death and then up again (Figure 1, Table A-2), the point estimates remained quite constant from about 3 years after death, at a level above that observed 4–8 years before death. There was no clear linear trend from 6 years after the death, but indications of a decline.

In a third robustness check, we considered a shorter observation period (from our first year of observation, FYO, to a year LYO*), and used as the age control group offspring whose parent was diagnosed with cancer after this period (i.e., between LYO*+1 and our last year of observation, LYO). By contrast, the age control group in the main analysis included offspring whose parent had not been diagnosed with cancer by LYO, several of whom may not experience a parental cancer diagnosis for many years, if ever. With the latter control group there would, in principle, be more doubt about the key assumption regarding similar age effects, although the first robustness check clearly supported this assumption.

More specifically, a new LYO* was set to the original LYO less 3; i.e., the focus was on a parental cancer diagnosis between FYO+2 and LYO* and the consultation probabilities between FYO and LYO*. Offspring experiencing parental cancer diagnosis from LYO-2 to LYO were included in a new version of the age control group, with a focus on their consultation probabilities from FYO to LYO*. With this setup – where only the period from 5 years before diagnosis to 3 years afterwards could be considered – the increase in consultations after the diagnosis was quite similar to that estimated in the main analysis (Table A-6). Note that it would not be reasonable to do a similar analysis of time since cancer death, because those definitely experiencing a parental death after LYO* may already be on an upward trend in consultations before that, which would be wrongly taken as an age effect.

Finally, if the offspring included in the analysis had one or more maternal siblings, we selected one of the siblings at random. The estimates from this much smaller sample (Table A-7) were similar to those in the main analysis.

6. Discussion and conclusions

6.1 Synthesizing and interpreting the main results

We have expanded on the literature by combining two steps. First, we controlled for all time-constant factors in a dynamic individual fixed-effects analysis, as in only one previous study (Kristiansen 2021). Second, and unlike that study and most others, we separated the effects of illness and death, and even considered the time to death. More specifically, we distinguished between the mental health effects of parental cancer death – including forthcoming death – and the mental health effects that parental cancer may have when the death is further away in time, or when the parent remains alive until the end of the observation period (but may die later). In the latter cases the parent may be weakened by the disease and spend extensive time in treatment, so that fewer resources are available to the offspring, and the offspring may also be worried about the situation or be disadvantaged for other reasons (see elaboration above).

Our analysis suggests that these effects of parental cancer diagnosis, absent death, are weak. While the probability of a healthcare consultation for a mental health problem is raised by about 15% after a parental cancer diagnosis in both age groups, the increase is considerably smaller (the relative increase being only about 5%) when the analysis is conditioned on survival through the remaining observation period. In fact, in the oldest age group the consultation probability is only elevated in the year of the diagnosis. Furthermore, according to the analysis of the much smaller group of offspring who do experience a parental cancer death within the observation period, and for whom we

therefore know the time between diagnosis and death, there is no increase in the consultation probability in the first couple of years after the diagnosis (for the two age groups combined) if the death occurs 4–6 years after the diagnosis.

A more marked response to a diagnosis might be expected if the survival prospects, as indicated by the published relative survival from the type of cancer the parent has, are particularly poor. This expectation is to some extent supported by the estimates for the oldest age group: Among offspring whose parent survive throughout the observation period, in the cases where survival prospects are poor there is a markedly higher probability of a consultation after the diagnosis than before. The pattern is different when the survival prospects are better, according to the interaction effects. In fact, in the latter case the consultation probability does not increase after the cancer diagnosis. However, it is not obvious how these results should be interpreted. They may reflect that in situations where the parent with cancer is (still) not very affected, the family may be more worried if the prognosis is poor than if it is not. Alternatively, if the prognosis is poor it is also particularly likely that a death will take place shortly after the observation period, so that the last years of that period include the very challenging pre-death stage. An opposite pattern appears in the youngest age group, where only the cancers with the best prognosis have effects, although these effects are weak.

As expected, we see sharper changes in consultations for mental health disorders around the time of death. In the oldest age group there is an increase over the few years before death – when the worries and other burdens the offspring experienced earlier in the illness period may have become more intense. There are only weak indications in this direction in the youngest age group. However, in both groups there is an immediate response to the death: Compared to the year before death, the consultation probability increases 53% in the younger group and 83% in the older group (after a 19% increase in the latter prior to death). However, in both age groups the period there is a steeper decline among the oldest. Nevertheless, in both age groups the point estimates indicate that the consultation probability is higher 5–6 years after death than a couple of years before death.

To summarize the age pattern, the effects of a parental cancer diagnosis that appear when it is conditioned on survival are weak in both age groups, while there are age differences in the effects of a death or an approaching death. These age differences may reflect that the older offspring are more involved as supporters or caregivers shortly before the parent's death and can more easily grasp the definitive loss, while also adapting more quickly to the new life situation afterwards. All in all, the findings suggest that healthcare personnel should perhaps pay more attention to young adults with parents in the terminal stages of cancer and after the death. We return to that below.

6.2 Strengths and limitations

In addition to the statistical method used, and the distinction made between illness and death, the strength of this analysis lies in the use of a large data set that includes objective measures of healthcare usage. It should also be noted that the main findings are robust to some alternative model specifications.

One challenge with the outcome variable is that, in principle, the number of healthcare consultations reflects both actual health and the inclination to seek professional help for a health problem. Torvik et al. (2018) find that a large proportion of the individuals who meet diagnostic criteria for depression or anxiety in a clinical interview have consulted a GP in the two preceding years and have been recorded as having a mental disorder. A smaller proportion have been registered with such a diagnosis in specialized healthcare. However, a sizeable minority have not contacted medical experts. Presumably, those with relatively mild symptoms are particularly likely to be in this category.

To the extent that an individual's tendency to seek professional help for a health problem is constant over time this is captured by the individual fixed effects. However, there are likely to be variations over time in the propensity to seek help and, most importantly, it is possible that a parent's cancer diagnosis or death changes it. This kind of bias could go both ways. On the one hand, the offspring's threshold for seeking help may become lower as a result of their parent's more frequent use of healthcare; or friends or family members may encourage them to seek help because of particular concern about their well-being after a parent is diagnosed with cancer or dies. In other words, it is possible that some of the effect that we estimate is actually the result of such increases in seeking healthcare rather than a deterioration in health. On the other hand, when there is distress in the family because of cancer, the parents may be less likely to find time to take a child to a doctor if they suspect a health problem. Furthermore, relatively old offspring may be so preoccupied with the well-being of the parent who is ill or (especially after a death) the other parent that they pay less attention to their own health problems. If this is the case, the actual health response to parental cancer may be stronger than our estimates suggest. Another reason for a possible underestimation of the mental health response is that some of it may be the result of an increase in relatively mild symptoms that many people generally do not seek help for (under any circumstances). In principle, the mental health effect will also be underestimated if young offspring receive professional help at a healthcare institution that treats the parent, but this is not registered as a consultation in the NPR.

An alternative outcome variable would be a count variable for the number of consultations, rather than our distinction between 0 versus 1 or more. However, it is not obvious what a larger number of consultations (beyond 1) would signal. For example, multiple treatments in specialized healthcare within a year may indicate a particularly

severe disorder, but it may also indicate the opposite, as the treatment for some severe disorders might be delivered during one long hospital stay. Also, it is not clear whether, for example, two GP consultations within a year signal a more severe or less severe disorder than one consultation in specialized healthcare.

There is also the question of whether there is reason for concern about time-varying confounders. For example, the health of the parent without cancer, support from family members, and economic resources may influence the development of the disease after diagnosis as well as the probability of dying from it, and may also impact the offspring's mental health. However, some of these factors may also be affected by the disease or death. Consequently, if they were included we would not know whether we had come closer to a causal effect of parental cancer, or whether we had 'over-controlled', in the sense that the remaining effects of parental cancer only reflect causal pathways not involving the respective control variables. Our decision was to estimate models without any time-varying characteristics except age and time since parental cancer diagnosis or death.

6.3 Concluding remarks

To conclude, our results suggest that parental cancer influences offspring's mental health primarily through bereavement. Both younger and older offspring are markedly affected by a death or (at least for the older offspring) an approaching death. The point estimates indicate that there may be a mental health disadvantage lasting at least 5–6 years after death. To the extent that this effect persists beyond our observation period, it can be said that the effect of parental cancer is long-term, like some other aspects of the early-life environment (e.g., Heckman 2012).

The evident effect of death may be considered as justifying the current law in Norway, which requires healthcare institutions to pay attention not only to offspring with a parent who is seriously ill, but also to those who have experienced parental death. However, it is perhaps easier to provide high-quality help at this stage if good contact with the offspring has already been established early in the illness period, even though – according to our results – they may not be so strongly affected then.

While older offspring may adapt more quickly to a parental death than younger offspring, and the generally weak response to a parental diagnosis of cancer that has not (yet) led to death is particularly weak for the older group, they also have the strongest response to forthcoming and recent death. One may therefore say that on the whole parental cancer does not appear to be less harmful to young adults' mental health than to that of younger offspring. This is noteworthy in the light of the aforementioned law,

which is restricted to offspring under 18 years of age. However, both age groups may receive good support from friends, family members, and others in their social network.

Our conclusions about the effects of parental cancer are likely to have broad relevance. In particular, it is hard to believe that such an event has much less impact on children and young adults in other countries, unless the formal and informal support systems are considerably better. Furthermore, mental health responses to other longlasting, serious diseases among parents, and to death from such diseases, may be similar, although the effects of more unexpected deaths may be different.

7. Acknowledgements

This study is supported by the Research Council of Norway through the SickFam project (number 315269) and its Centres of Excellence funding scheme (number 262700). The helpful advice from Michael Betz, Jorunn Valle Nilsen and two reviewers is greatly appreciated.

Ethical approval

Ethical approval to use the data for this research purpose has been provided by the data owners and the Regional Committees for Medical Research Ethics (REK number 2018/434)

Data statement

The access to the data is highly restricted. The data can only be used in collaboration with researchers at the Centre for Fertility and Health, and for certain purposes described in the protocol approved by the Regional Committees for Medical Research Ethics.

References

- Aaskoven, M.S., Kjær, T., and Gyrd-Hansen, D. (2022). Effects of parental health shocks on children's school achievements: A register-based population study. *Journal of Health Economics* 81: 102573. doi:10.1016/j.jhealeco.2021.102573.
- Ai, C. and Norton, E.C. (2003). Interaction terms in logit and probit models. *Economics Letters* 80: 123–129. doi:10.1016/S0165-1765(03)00032-6.
- Benros, M.E., Laursen, T.M., Dalton, S.O., Nordentoft, M., and Mortensen, P.B. (2013). The risk of schizophrenia and child psychiatric disorders in offspring of mothers with lung cancer and other types of cancer: A Danish nationwide register study. *PLoS One* 8: e79031. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0079031.
- Berg, L., Rostila, M., and Hjern, A. (2016). Parental death during childhood and depression in young adults: A national cohort study. *Journal of Child Psychology* and Psychiatry 57: 1092–1098. doi:10.1111/jcpp.12560.
- Bowlby, J. (1977). The making and breaking of affectional bonds: I. Aetiology and psychopathology in the light of attachment theory. *The British Journal of Psychiatry* 130: 201–210. doi:10.1192/bjp.130.3.201.
- Bradley, R.H. and Corwyn, R.F. (2002). Socioeconomic status and child development. Annual Review of Psychology 53: 371–399. doi:10.1146/annurev.psych.53.100 901.135233.
- Bultmann, J.C., Beierlein, V., Romer, G., Möller, B., Koch, U., and Bergelt, C. (2014). Parental cancer: Health-related quality of life and current psychosocial support needs of cancer survivors and their children. *International Journal of Cancer* 135: 2668–2677. doi:10.1002/ijc.28905.
- Cancer Registry of Norway (2022). Cancer in Norway 2021: Cancer incidence, mortality, survival and prevalence in Norway. Oslo: Cancer Registry of Norway.
- Chen, R., Fall, K., Czene, K., Kennedy, B., Valdimarsdóttir, U., and Fang, F. (2018b). Impact of parental cancer on IQ, stress resilience, and physical fitness in young men. *Clinical Epidemiology* 10: 593. doi:10.2147/CLEP.S152210.
- Chen, R., Sjölander, A., Valdimarsdóttir, U., Varnum, C., Almqvist, C., Ye, W., Fall, K., Czene, K., and Fang, F. (2015a). Parental cancer diagnosis and child mortality: A population-based cohort study in Sweden. *Cancer Epidemiology* 39: 79–85. doi:10.1016/j.canep.2014.11.011.

- Chen, R., Wallin, A.R., Sjölander, A., Valdimarsdóttir, U., Ye, W., Tiemeier, H., Fall, K., Almqvist, C., Czene, K., and Fang, F. (2015b). Childhood injury after a parental cancer diagnosis. *Elife* 4: e08500. doi:10.7554/eLife.08500.
- Chen, R., Wallin, A.W., Selinus, E.N., Sjölander, A., Fall, K., Valdimarsdóttir, U., Czene, K., and Fang, F. (2018a). Psychiatric disorders among children of parents with cancer: A Swedish register-based matched cohort study. *Psycho-Oncology* 27: 1854–1860. doi:10.1002/pon.4738.
- Glaser, F. and Pruckner, G.J. (2023). A hard pill to swallow? Parental health shocks and children's mental health. *Health Economics*, online first. doi:10.1002/hec.4752.
- Hällsten, M. and Thaning, M. (2002). Wealth as one of the 'Big Four' SES dimensions in intergenerational transmissions. *Social Forces* 100: 1533–1560. doi:10.1093/ sf/soab080.
- Heckman, J.J. (2012). The developmental origins of health. *Health Economics* 21: 24–29. doi:10.1002/hec.1802.
- Høeg, B.L., Christensen, J., Banko, L., Frederiksen, K., Appel, C.W., Dalton, S.O., Dyregrov, A., Guldin, M.B., Jørgensen, S.E., Lytje, M., Bøge, P., and Bidstrup, P.E. (2021). Psychotropic medication among children who experience parental death to cancer. *European Child and Adolescent Psychiatry* 24: 1–11. doi:10.1007/s00787-021-01846-y.
- Hoffmann, R., Kaiser, J., and Kersting, A. (2018). Psychosocial outcomes in cancerbereaved children and adolescents: A systematic review. *Psycho-Oncology* 27: 2327–2338. doi:10.1002/pon.4863.
- Howell, K.H., Barrett-Becker, E.P., Burnside, A.N., Wamser-Nanney, R., Layne, C.M., and Kaplow, J.B. (2016). Children facing parental cancer versus parental death: The buffering effects of positive parenting and emotional expression. *Journal of Child and Family Studies* 25: 152–164. doi:10.1007/s10826-015-0198-3.
- Inhestern, L., Bultmann, J.C., Johannsen, L.M., Beierlein, V., Möller, B., Romer, G., Koch, U., and Bergelt, C. (2021). Estimates of prevalence rates of cancer patients with children and well-being in affected children: A systematic review on population-based findings. *Frontiers in Psychiatry* 12. doi:10.3389/fpsyt.2021. 765314.
- Jeppesen, E., Bjelland, I., Fosså, S.D., Loge, J.H., and Dahl, A. (2013). Psychosocial problems of teenagers who have a parent with cancer: A population-based casecontrol study (young-HUNT study). *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 31: 4099– 4104. doi:10.1200/JCO.2013.50.7061.

- Jessop, M., Fischer, A., and Good, P. (2022). Impact of expected parental death on the health of adolescent and young adult children: A systematic review of the literature. *Palliative Medicine* 36: 928–937. doi:10.1177/02692163221092618.
- Karlson, K.B., Holm, A., and Breen, R. (2012). Comparing regression coefficients between same-sample nested models using logit and probit: A new method. *Sociological Methodology* 42: 286–313. doi:10.1177/0081175012444861.
- Krattenmacher, T., Kühne, F., Ernst, J., Bergelt, C., Romer, G., and Möller, B. (2012). Parental cancer: Factors associated with children's psychosocial adjustment: A systematic review. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research* 72: 344–356. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychores.2012.01.011.
- Kravdal, Ø. and Grundy, E. (2016). Health effects of parental deaths among adults in Norway: Purchases of prescription medicine before and after bereavement. SSM-Population Health 2: 868–875. doi:10.1016/j.ssmph.2016.10.013.
- Kravdal, Ø. and Wörn, J. (2023). Mental and physical health trajectories of Norwegian parents and children before and after union dissolution. *Population and Development Review* 49: 71–103. doi:10.1111/padr.12530.
- Kravdal, Ø., Wörn, J., and Reme, B.-A. (2023). Mental health benefits of cohabitation and marriage: A longitudinal analysis of Norwegian register data. *Population Studies* 77: 91–110. doi:10.1080/00324728.2022.2063933.
- Kristiansen, I.L. (2021). Consequences of serious parental health events on child mental health and educational outcomes. *Health Economics* 30: 1772–1817. doi:10.1002/hec.4278.
- Leopold, T. and Lechner, C.M. (2015). Parents' death and adult well-being: Gender, age, and adaptation to filial bereavement. *Journal of Marriage and Family* 77: 747–760. doi:10.1111/jomf.12186.
- Ministry of Health and Care Services (2023). Helsepersonelloven. Oslo: Ministry of Health and Care Services. https://lovdata.no/dokument/NL/lov/1999-07-02-64.
- Momen, N.C., Ernst, A., Arendt, L.H., Olsen, J., Li, J., Gissler, M., and Ramlau-Hansen, C. (2019). Mental and behavioural disorders in the children of mothers diagnosed with cancer: A Danish population-based register study. *Psycho-Oncology* 28: 408–414. doi:10.1002/pon.4958.
- Morris, J.N., Martini, A., and Preen, D. (2016). The well-being of children impacted by a parent with cancer: An integrative review. *Supportive Care in Cancer* 24: 3235–3251. doi:10.1007/s00520-016-3214-2.

- Niemelä, M., Paananen, R., Hakko, H., Merikukka, M., Gissler, M., and Räsänen, S. (2012). The prevalence of children affected by parental cancer and their use of specialized psychiatric services: The 1987 Finnish Birth Cohort study. *International Journal of Cancer* 131: 2117–2125. doi:10.1002/ijc.27466.
- Niemelä, M., Paananen, R., Hakko, H., Merikukka, M., Gissler, M., and Räsänen, S. (2016). Mental disorder diagnoses of offspring affected by parental cancer before early adulthood: The 1987 Finnish Birth Cohort study. *Psycho-Oncology* 25: 1477–1484. doi:10.1002/pon.4088.
- Norwegian Cancer Association (2019). Se på meg, hør på meg og snakk med meg (In English: Look at me, listen to me, and talk with me). Oslo: Norwegian Cancer Association. https://kreftforeningen.no/content/uploads/2022/08/se-meg-hor-pa-meg-og-snakk-med-meg-desember-2019.pdf.
- Norwegian Institute of Public Health (2018). Helsetilstanden i Norge 2018 (In English: Public Health in Norway 2018). Oslo: Norwegian Institute of Public Health. https://www.fhi.no/globalassets/dokumenterfiler/rapporter/2018/helsetilstandeni-norge-20182.pdf.
- Osborn, T. (2007). The psychosocial impact of parental cancer on children and adolescents: A systematic review. *Psycho-Oncology* 16: 101–126. doi:10.1002/pon.1113.
- Pfeffer, C.R., Karus, D., Siegel, K., and Jiang, H. (2000). Child survivors of parental death from cancer or suicide: Depressive and behavioral outcomes. *Psycho-Oncology* 9: 1–10. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1099-1611(200001/02)9:1<1::AID-PON43 0>3.3.CO;2-X.
- Porter, N. and Claridge, A.M. (2021). Unique grief experiences: The needs of emerging adults facing the death of a parent. *Death Studies* 45: 191–201. doi:10.1080/ 07481187.2019.1626939.
- Semple, C.J. and McCance, T. (2010). Parents' experience of cancer who have young children: A literature review. *Cancer Nursing* 33: 110–118. doi:10.1097/NCC. 0b013e3181c024bb.
- Stikkelbroek, Y., Prinzie, P., de Graaf, R., Ten Have, M., and Cuijpers, P. (2012). Parental death during childhood and psychopathology in adulthood. *Psychiatry Research* 198: 516–520. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2011.10.024.
- Swartz, T.T., Kim, M., Uno, M.U., Mortimer, J., and O'Brien, K.B. (2011). Safety nets and scaffolds: Parental support in the transition to adulthood. *Journal of Marriage* and Family 73: 414–429. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3737.2010.00815.x.

- Torvik, F.A., Ystrom, E., Gustavson, K., Rosenström, T.H., Bramness, J.G., Gillespie, N., Aggen, S.H., Kendler, K.S., and Reichborn-Kjennerud, T. (2018). Diagnostic and genetic overlap of three common mental disorders in structured interviews and health registries. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica* 137(1): 54–64. doi:10.1111/ acps.12829.
- Visser, A., Huizinga, G.A., Hoekstra, H.J., Van Der Graaf, W.T., Gazendam-Donofrio, S.M., and Hoekstra-Weebers, J.E. (2007). Emotional and behavioral problems in children of parents recently diagnosed with cancer: A longitudinal study. *Acta Oncologica* 46: 67–76. doi:10.1080/02841860600949560.
- Visser, A., Huizinga, G.A., van der Graaf, W.T., Hoekstra, H.J., and Hoekstra-Weebers, J.E. (2004). The impact of parental cancer on children and the family: A review of the literature. *Cancer Treatment Reviews* 30: 683–694. doi:10.1016/j.ctrv. 2004.06.001.
- Wiik, K.A. (2009). 'You'd better wait!': Socio-economic background and timing of first marriage versus first cohabitation. *European Sociological Review* 25: 139–153. doi:10.1093/esr/jcn045.

Appendix

Table A-1:Effects (with standard errors) of parental cancer diagnosis on
offspring's probability of having a healthcare consultation for a
mental disorder at ages 6–30, by their age at the time of diagnosis a

Time since cancer diagnosis (years)	Offspring aged 8-30 years at		Offspring aged 8–18 years at		Offspring aged 19-30 years at	
	diagnosis		diagnosis		diagnosis	
-8	-0.006	(0.003)	-0.010	(0.006)	-0.004	(0.004)
-7	-0.002	(0.002)	-0.009	(0.004)	0.000	(0.003)
-6	-0.001	(0.002)	0.000	(0.004)	0.004	(0.002)
-5	0.003	(0.002)	0.000	(0.003)	0.002	(0.002)
-4	0.001	(0.002)	-0.002	(0.003)	0.002	(0.002)
-3	0.002	(0.001)	0.001	(0.002)	0.002	(0.002)
-2	0.001	(0.001)	0.001	(0.002)	0.001	(0.002)
-1 (ref)	0	. ,	0		0	, ,
0	0.017	(0.001)	0.006	(0.002)	0.022	(0.002)
1	0.019	(0.002)	0.013	(0.003)	0.021	(0.002)
2	0.015	(0.002)	0.013	(0.003)	0.016	(0.002)
3	0.011	(0.002)	0.016	(0.003)	0.008	(0.003)
4	0.010	(0.003)	0.012	(0.004)	0.007	(0.004)
5	0.009	(0.003)	0.007	(0.005)	0.010	(0.005)
6	0.004	(0.005)	0.006	(0.006)	0.000	(0.007)

Note: a The model also includes the offspring's age in 1-year categories.

Table A-2: Effects (with standard errors) of parental cancer death on offspring's probability of having a healthcare consultation for a mental disorder at ages 6–30, by their age at the time of death ^a

Time since cancer death (years)	Offspring aged 8-30 years at		Offspring	aged 8–18 years at	Offspring aged 19–30 years at	
	death		death		death	
-8	-0.047	(0.008)	-0.035	(0.017)	-0.049	(0.009)
-7	-0.032	(0.006)	0.000	(0.012)	-0.039	(0.007)
-6	-0.036	(0.005)	-0.017	(0.010)	-0.040	(0.006)
-5	-0.028	(0.005)	-0.007	(0.008)	-0.034	(0.006)
-4	-0.033	(0.004)	-0.010	(0.007)	-0.040	(0.005)
-3	-0.024	(0.004)	-0.009	(0.006)	-0.029	(0.005)
-2	-0.018	(0.003)	0.001	(0.005)	-0.025	(0.004)
-1 (ref)	0		0		0	
0	0.141	(0.004)	0.055	(0.007)	0.172	(0.005)
1	0.037	(0.004)	0.076	(0.008)	0.022	(0.005)
2	0.009	(0.005)	0.049	(0.008)	-0.010	(0.006)
3	-0.002	(0.006)	0.034	(0.009)	-0.022	(0.007)
4	-0.017	(0.006)	0.022	(0.010)	-0.040	(0.008)
5	-0.003	(0.008)	0.012	(0.012)	-0.013	(0.011)
6	0.025	(0.012)	0.026	(0.017)	0.027	(0.017)

Note: a The model also includes the offspring's age in 1-year categories.

Table A-3:Effects (with standard errors) of parental cancer diagnosis on
offspring's probability of having a healthcare consultation for a
mental disorder at ages 6–30, by their age at the time of diagnosis a

Time since cancer diagnosis (years)	Offspring aged 8–30 years at diagnosis		Offspring aged 8–18 years at diagnosis		Offspring aged 19–30 years at diagnosis	
As the first column of Table 3						
≤–1 (ref)	0		0		0	
0	0.016	(0.001)	0.006	(0.002)	0.021	(0.002)
1	0.018	(0.002)	0.013	(0.002)	0.020	(0.002)
2	0.014	(0.002)	0.013	(0.003)	0.015	(0.002)
3	0.011	(0.002)	0.016	(0.003)	0.006	(0.003)
4	0.009	(0.003)	0.012	(0.004)	0.006	(0.003)
5	0.008	(0.003)	0.006	(0.004)	0.009	(0.005)
6	0.003	(0.005)	0.006	(0.006)	-0.001	(0.007)
As above, but excluding the age control	ol group (gr	oup B)				
≤–1 (ref)	0		0		0	
0	0.016	(0.001)	0.003	(0.002)	0.021	(0.002)
1	0.017	(0.002)	0.009	(0.003)	0.019	(0.003)
2	0.013	(0.002)	0.008	(0.004)	0.014	(0.003)
3	0.009	(0.003)	0.012	(0.005)	0.005	(0.004)
4	0.008	(0.003)	0.011	(0.006)	0.005	(0.005)
5	0.006	(0.004)	0.007	(0.007)	0.007	(0.006)
6	0.001	(0.005)	0.006	(0.009)	-0.002	(0.008)

Note: a The model also includes the offspring's age in 1-year categories.

Table A-4:Effects (with standard errors) of parental cancer diagnosis on
offspring's probability of having a healthcare consultation for a
mental disorder at ages 6–30, by their age at the time of diagnosis,
when offspring experiencing the diagnosis between age 8 and FYO+1
are also included ^a

			A <i>H</i> A AH AH AH AH AH AH AH AH AH AH AH AH AH AH AH AH AH AH AH AH AH AH AH AH H AH AH AH AH AH AH AH AH AH AH H AH AH AH H AH A			
Time since cancer diagnosis (years)	Offspring aged 8–30 years		Offspring	Offspring aged 8–18 years		aged 19–30
	at diagnos	sis	at diagnos	sis	years at d	liagnosis
≤ –1 (ref)	0		0		0	
0	0.017	(0.001)	0.006	(0.002)	0.022	(0.002)
1	0.017	(0.001)	0.012	(0.002)	0.020	(0.002)
2	0.014	(0.002)	0.014	(0.002)	0.014	(0.002)
3	0.009	(0.002)	0.013	(0.003)	0.005	(0.002)
4	0.007	(0.002)	0.012	(0.003)	0.002	(0.003)
5	0.006	(0.002)	0.007	(0.003)	0.004	(0.003)
6	0.007	(0.002)	0.011	(0.003)	0.000	(0.003)
Linear effect from 6, i.e., effect of the	-0.0008	(0.0004)	-0.0009	(0.0004)	-0.0010	(0.0013)
term (time-6), which is added for						
time ≥ 6 ^b						
Number of observations (million)	0.952		0.431		0.521	
among those who have experienced						
parental cancer diagnosis (group A)						
Number of observations (million) in	11.532		11.532		11.532	
age control group (group B)						

Notes: ^a The model also includes the offspring's age in 1-year categories.

^b The analysis of offspring experiencing a parental cancer diagnosis at ages 19–30 only covers the period up to 11 years after the diagnosis, while the other analyses cover the period up to 22 years after the diagnosis.

Table A-5:Effects (with standard errors) of parental cancer death on offspring's
probability of having a healthcare consultation for a mental disorder
at ages 6–30, by their age at the time of death, when offspring
experiencing the death between age 8 and FYO+1 are also included,
unless the diagnosis was prior to one year after the child's birth ^a

Time since cancer death (years)	Offspring aged 8-30 years		Offspring aged 8-18 years		Offspring aged 19–30	
	at death		at death	• •	years at c	leath
-8	-0.048	(0.008)	-0.037	(0.017)	-0.050	(0.009)
-7	-0.033	(0.006)	-0.003	(0.012)	-0.040	(0.007)
-6	-0.037	(0.005)	-0.020	(0.010)	-0.041	(0.006)
-5	-0.029	(0.005)	-0.010	(0.008)	-0.035	(0.005)
-4	-0.034	(0.004)	-0.013	(0.007)	-0.040	(0.005)
-3	-0.024	(0.004)	-0.012	(0.006)	-0.029	(0.005)
-2	-0.019	(0.003)	-0.002	(0.005)	-0.026	(0.004)
-1 (ref)	0		0		0	
0	0.138	(0.004)	0.053	(0.006)	0.169	(0.005)
1	0.034	(0.004)	0.068	(0.007)	0.020	(0.005)
2	0.008	(0.004)	0.041	(0.007)	-0.009	(0.005)
3	0.001	(0.004)	0.034	(0.007)	-0.018	(0.006)
4	-0.004	(0.005)	0.022	(0.007)	-0.022	(0.006)
5	-0.008	(0.005)	0.014	(0.008)	-0.023	(0.007)
6	-0.004	(0.005)	0.019	(0.008)	-0.018	(0.007)
Linear effect from 6, i.e., effect of the	-0.0016	(0.0009)	-0.0013	(0.0009)	-0.0040	(0.0026)
term (time-6) which is added for time						
≥ 6 ^b						
Number of observations (million)	0.195		0.085		0.111	
among those who have experienced						
parental cancer death (group A*)						
Number of observations (million) in	11.532		11.532		11.532	
age control group (group B)						

Notes: a The model also includes the offspring's age in 1-year categories.

^b The analysis of offspring experiencing a parental cancer death at ages 19-30 only covers the period up to 11 years after the death, while the other analyses cover the period up to 22 years after the death.

Table A-6:Effects (with standard errors) of parental cancer diagnosis on
offspring's probability of having a healthcare consultation for a
mental disorder at ages 6–30, by their age at the time of diagnosis,
when only consultations up to LYO-3 are considered, the diagnosis
takes place up to this year, and group B only includes individuals
with a parental cancer diagnosis between LYO-2 and LYO ^a

Time since cancer diagnosis (years)	Offspring aged 8-30 years at		Offspring aged 8–18 years at		Offspring aged 19-30 years at	
	diagnosis diagnosis			diagnosis		
-5	0.003	(0.004)	0.002	(0.006)	0.004	(0.005)
-4	0.004	(0.003)	0.004	(0.004)	0.004	(0.004)
-3	0.005	(0.002)	0.006	(0.003)	0.005	(0.003)
-2	0.001	(0.002)	0.003	(0.003)	0.001	(0.003)
-1 (ref)	0		0		0	
0	0.012	(0.002)	0.003	(0.003)	0.019	(0.003)
1	0.018	(0.003)	0.014	(0.004)	0.022	(0.004)
2	0.015	(0.003)	0.009	(0.005)	0.021	(0.005)
3	0.009	(0.005)	0.014	(0.007)	0.002	(0.007)
Number of observations (million)	0.166		0.069		0.097	
among those who have experienced						
parental cancer diagnosis (group A)						
Number of observations (million) in	0.186		0.186		0.186	
age control group (group B)						

Note: ^a The model also includes the offspring's age in 1-year categories.

Table A-7:Effects (with standard errors) of parental cancer diagnosis or death
on offspring's probability of having a healthcare consultation for a
mental disorder at ages 6–30, by their age at the time of the event,
when only one child is included for each mother based on a random
selection a

Time since cancer diagnosis (years)	Offspring aged 8–30 years at diagnosis		Offspring aged 8–18 years at diagnosis		Offspring aged 19–30 years at diagnosis		
≤-1 (ref)	0		0		0		
0	0.017	(0.002)	0.004	(0.002)	0.023	(0.003)	
1	0.019	(0.002)	0.012	(0.003)	0.020	(0.003)	
2	0.015	(0.003)	0.014	(0.003)	0.012	(0.003)	
3	0.012	(0.003)	0.015	(0.004)	0.006	(0.004)	
4	0.012	(0.004)	0.013	(0.005)	0.004	(0.005)	
5	0.013	(0.005)	0.006	(0.006)	0.014	(0.006)	
6	0.013	(0.007)	0.002	(0.008)	0.006	(0.009)	

Panel A: Effects of time since parental cancer diagnos
--

Panel B: Effects of time since parental cancer death

Time since cancer death (years)	Offspring aged 8-30 years at		Offspring aged 8-18 years at		Offspring aged 19-30 years at	
	death		death		death	· · ·
-8	-0.046	(0.011)	-0.041	(0.020)	-0.042	(0.013)
-7	-0.030	(0.009)	-0.018	(0.015)	-0.038	(0.010)
-6	-0.030	(0.008)	-0.017	(0.012)	-0.042	(0.008)
-5	-0.023	(0.007)	-0.011	(0.010)	-0.028	(0.008)
-4	-0.033	(0.006)	-0.012	(0.009)	-0.037	(0.007)
-3	-0.021	(0.005)	-0.008	(0.008)	-0.026	(0.006)
-2	-0.016	(0.005)	0.001	(0.007)	-0.024	(0.006)
-1 (ref)	0		0		0	
0	0.155	(0.006)	0.055	(0.009)	0.172	(0.007)
1	0.038	(0.006)	0.074	(0.010)	0.028	(0.007)
2	0.015	(0.007)	0.044	(0.011)	-0.010	(0.008)
3	0.011	(0.008)	0.031	(0.012)	-0.022	(0.010)
4	-0.005	(0.009)	0.018	(0.012)	-0.041	(0.011)
5	0.006	(0.011)	0.006	(0.015)	-0.018	(0.014)
6	0.044	(0.017)	-0.001	(0.020)	0.028	(0.022)

Note: ^a The models also include the offspring's age in 1-year categories.

Kravdal et al.: Effects of parental cancer on offspring's mental health